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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  

WESTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI 

SOUTHERN DIVISION  

 

BOBBY HONICUTT,    ) 

       ) 

   Plaintiff,   ) 

       ) 

 v.      ) Case No. 6:15-CV-3515  

       )  

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, MISSOURI,  ) 

       ) 

   Defendant.   ) 

 

COMPLAINT 

 

 Plaintiff Bobby Honicutt alleges as follows: 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

1. Springfield resident Bobby Honicutt and his family are facing difficult financial times. 

Since the recession, Honicutt has been unable to secure regular, full-time work. His wife 

has a serious medical condition that requires expensive prescription medication and other 

medical treatment, and she cannot work. Honicutt made the difficult decision to 

panhandle to help his family meet its expenses. 

2. Honicutt’s efforts have been stymied by § 78.2 of the Springfield City Code, conflicting 

interpretations of the ordinance by Springfield officials, and the inability to get a response 

from his representative about the conflict. Having already been threatened with citation 

for engaging in expressive activity protected by the First Amendment, Honicutt has now 

decided to refrain from such expressive conduct because he recognizes a citation would 

only compound the problems he faces. 

3. Subsequent to the enactment of § 78.2, the Supreme Court of the United States 

announced its opinions in two First Amendment cases—McCullen v. Coakley, 134 S. Ct. 
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2518 (2014), and Reed v. Town of Gilbert, Arizona, 135 S. Ct. 2218 (2015)—that 

demonstrate § 78.2 cannot withstand First Amendment scrutiny. Moreover, as evidenced 

by the contradictory interpretations of § 78.2 by city officials, § 78.2 fails to provide 

reasonable notice of precisely what expressive activity it prohibits, which encourages 

arbitrary or discriminatory enforcement and violates the Due Process Clause of the 

Fourteenth Amendment. For these reasons, Honicutt challenges § 78.2 both on its face 

and as applied to him. 

PARTIES 

4. Plaintiff, Bobby Honicutt, is a citizen of Missouri who resides in Springfield.  

5. Defendant City of Springfield, Missouri, is a municipal corporation and political 

subdivision of the State of Missouri.  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

6. Honicutt brings this claim pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983; the Free Speech Clause of the 

First Amendment to the United States Constitution, incorporated as against States and 

their municipal divisions through the Fourteenth Amendment; and the Due Process 

Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.  

7. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(1) & (2) because 

Defendant is located in Greene County, Missouri, and its actions giving rise to the claim 

in this suit occurred in Greene County.  

8. Venue is proper in the Southern Division pursuant to Local Rule 3.1(a)(3)(a). 

FACTS 

9. On January 27, 2014, Springfield enacted Council Bill 2013-320, which expanded 

Springfield’s restrictions, entitled “Aggressive Solicitation,” to prohibit any solicitation 
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“within 5 feet of a curb edge, sidewalk, shoulder, intersection median, or highway off 

ramp” and to restrict panhandling on public streets, sidewalks, alleys, parks, and other 

public places. A signed copy of the Council Bill is attached as Exhibit 1 and incorporated 

herein. 

10. The ordinance is codified as § 78.2 of the Springfield City Code. 

11. Honicutt and his family are facing difficult financial times.  

12. In October 2015, Honicutt made the difficult decision to panhandle to help his family 

meet its expenses. 

13. Having never before panhandled and wanting to abide by the law, Honicutt sought out 

information about panhandling restrictions by visiting Springfield’s City Hall. 

14. At City Hall, Honicutt was given a one-page document that purports to describe 

Springfield’s ordinance. It states: 

Panhandlers can quietly hold a solicitation sign anywhere 

in the city as long as they are not in a median, intersection, 

or on a shoulder; they do not block an entrance, or obstruct 

pedestrian traffic, and the do not verbally request 

donations. 

To verbally solicit money, panhandlers must be at least 20 

feet away from a doorway or sidewalk café and at least 5 

feet from a road or sidewalk. 

Aggressive panhandling includes repeatedly asking a 

person for money despite being rebuffed, or making 

physical contact while soliciting. 
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15. In light of the guidance from City Hall, Honicutt concluded that passive panhandling, 

such as silently holding a solicitation sign, would be the best route to avoid running afoul 

of the law. 

16. On November 7, 2015, Honicutt panhandled on a public sidewalk at the northeast corner 

of Kearney Street and Grant Street in Springfield. 

17. Honicutt held a sign that read: 

TRYING TO 

SUPPORT MY 

SICK WIFE 

Please Help 

18. Honicutt was approached by a Springfield police officer. 

19. The Springfield police officer told Honicutt that he was violating a city ordinance by 

soliciting on a public sidewalk. 

20. Honicutt showed the Springfield police officer the written guidance Honicutt had been 

provided at City Hall, and they read it together. 

21. Honicutt opined to the Springfield police officer that, according to the guidance, only 

aggressive panhandling is prohibited on sidewalks. 

22. The Springfield police officer responded that the ordinance clearly prohibits any 

solicitation on sidewalks. 

23. The Springfield police officer told Honicutt that he must stop panhandling or the police 

officer would give him a ticket that Honicutt could fight in court. 

24. Honicutt determined that he could not afford to receive a ticket and face the possibility of 

a fine or incarceration, so he stopped soliciting. 
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25. The Springfield police officer also told Honicutt that the police officer would be 

returning to make sure that Honicutt had not resumed soliciting. 

26. On November 9, 2015, Honicutt contacted, by letter and e-mail, his zone representative 

on the Springfield City Council, Justin Burnett, explaining his situation and experience 

being prevented from soliciting, as well as asking for a meeting with Burnett and City 

Attorney. Honicutt has received no response. 

27. Pursuant to § 1-7 of the Code of Ordinances, each violation of the challenged ordinance 

“shall be punished by a fine of not more than $1,000.00 or by imprisonment in jail for a 

period not exceeding 180 days, or both such fine and imprisonment.” 

28. Because Honicutt is unwilling to risk imposition of a fine or imprisonment, he 

temporarily  refrained from soliciting after November 7, 2015. 

29. Honicutt attempted to panhandle and comply with the Ordinance twice after November 7, 

2015, but it was a futile exercise. He could not effectively seek or receive donations from 

persons traveling down public roads. Furthermore, because the police officer’s instruction 

to him and the interpretation of the Ordinance from City Hall were in conflict, he was 

unsure if he was in compliance despite his best efforts. 

30. In addition, Honicutt learned that Defendant had charged a local attorney, Roger Jones, 

with violation of the Ordinance because he stood at a busy intersection with a sign and 

accepted donations on behalf of the American Cancer Society. 

31. Because of his fear of citation or arrest, Honicutt has since refrained from soliciting after 

his two largely unsuccessful efforts. 

32. But for § 78.2, Honicutt would engage in the expressive conduct of soliciting on 

sidewalks both by holding a sign and by verbally requesting contributions. 
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33. The chilling effect of § 78.2 on Honicutt’s expressive activity is based on his reasonable 

belief that he will be subject to arrest and/or prosecution under the Ordinance. 

34. On November 7, 2015, Honicutt received multiple donations before the Springfield 

police officer threatened him with  citation.  

35. Honicutt has been harmed by not receiving the donations he would have received on 

November 7, 2015, and thereafter, had he be able to panhandle. 

36. In addition, absent injunctive relief from this Court, Honicutt could still be cited and 

prosecuted for a violation of § 78.2 based on his expressive activity on November 7, 

2015. 

37. At all times relevant to this Complaint, Defendant acts under color of law. 

THE CHALLENGED ORDINANCE 

38.  Section 78.2, in relevant part, provides that “[i]t shall be unlawful for any person to 

solicit money or other things of value or to solicit the sale of goods or services … [b]y 

spoken, written[,] or printed appeal within five feet of a curb edge, sidewalk, shoulder, 

intersection median, or highway off ramp.” 

39. Section 78.2 further provides that “[i]t shall be unlawful to panhandle in any manner[.]” 

40. Section 78.2 defines “panhandling” as “any verbal solicitation made in person upon any 

public street, sidewalk, alley, park or other public place, in which a person requests an 

immediate donation of any item of value, monetary or otherwise from another person[.]” 

41. Section 78.2 defines “solicit” as “request an immediate donation of money or other thing 

of value from another person, regardless of the solicitor’s purpose or intended use of the 

money or other thing of value.” And, the section further notes that “[t]he solicitation may 
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be, without limitation, by the spoken, written or printed word or by other means of 

communication.” 

42. Honicutt reasonably fears that his solicitation on public sidewalks in Springfield of 

contributions—whether by spoken word or the passive holding of a sign—will be 

considered panhandling, solicitation, or both, and, thus subject him to citation and the 

possibility of being fined, imprisoned, or both. 

COUNT I: FIRST AMENDMENT 

§ 78.2 is Unconstitutional  

under the Free Speech Clause of the First Amendment 

43. Plaintiff repeats, re-alleges, and incorporates by reference the allegations in the foregoing 

paragraphs of this Complaint as fully set forth herein. 

44. Section 78.2 violates the Free Speech Clause of the First Amendment to the Constitution, 

on its face and as applied, because it impermissibly curtails Plaintiff’s expressive 

activities.  

45. Solicitation of immediate donations for money or other items of value is an expressive 

communication subject to First Amendment protection. 

46. Section 78.2 is a content-based regulation because it prohibits certain types of speech 

based on the content thereof and makes impermissible distinctions based on the function 

or purpose of the regulated speech.  

47. Section 78.2 applies to certain types of solicitation (for example, for money), but not to 

other types of solicitation (for example, to be included on a mailing list).  

48. Section 78.2 applies to certain types of signs (for example, those seeking contributions), 

but not other types of signs (for example, those inviting passersby to an event). 
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49. Section 78.2 applies to the distribution of certain types of literature (for example, a 

handbill seeking contributions), but not to other types of literature (for example, a 

handbill seeking support in an election). 

50. Section 78.2 applies, by its own plain language, to traditional and designated public fora, 

as well as nonpublic fora and private property.  

51. Section 78.2 is facially invalid because it prohibits a substantial amount of protected 

speech. 

52. Plaintiff has been chilled from engaging in any solicitation or panhandling because of his 

reasonable fear of citation, arrest, or prosecution.  

53. Springfield has no significant or compelling interest that can justify the necessity of 

§ 78.2.  

54. Section 78.2 is not narrowly tailored to achieve a significant government interest.  

55. Section 78.2 is not the least restrictive means to achieve a compelling government 

interest.  

56. Section 78.2 does not leave open ample alternative avenues of communication for 

Plaintiff to convey his message. 

57. Section 78.2 is underinclusive because, for example, it does not restrict other types of 

expressive conduct between individuals on public sidewalks.  

58. Section 78.2 is overinclusive because, for example, it covers some types of 

communication, based on its content, function, and/or purpose, in all public fora within 

Springfield.  

COUNT II: DUE PROCESS 

§ 78.2 is Void for Vagueness 
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59. Plaintiff repeats, re-alleges, and incorporates by reference the allegations in the foregoing 

paragraphs of this Complaint as fully set forth herein. 

60. Section 78.2 fails to provide persons of ordinary intelligence a reasonable opportunity to 

understand what, if any, panhandling and soliciting is permissible on public sidewalks 

and other traditional public fora in Springfield. 

61. The vagueness of § 78.2 encourages arbitrary or discriminatory enforcement. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays this Court: 

a. Upon motion, grant a temporary restraining order and a preliminary injunction 

preventing the enforcement of § 78.2;  

b. Grant a permanent injunction preventing the enforcement of § 78.2;  

c. Enter a declaration that § 78.2 is unconstitutional on its face and as applied to 

Plaintiff;  

d. Award Plaintiff nominal and actual damages;  

e. Award costs and attorneys’ fees pursuant to 42 U.S.C. Sect. 1988; and 

f. Allow such other and further relief as this Court finds just.  

Respectfully submitted,  

 

/s/ Anthony E. Rothert  

Anthony E. Rothert, #44827 

Jessie Steffan, #64861 

       ACLU of Missouri Foundation 

       454 Whittier Street 

       St. Louis, Missouri 63108 

       Phone: (314) 652-3114 

       arothert@aclu-mo.org 

       jsteffan@aclu-mo.org 

        

            

       Attorneys for Plaintiff 
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